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ground for his Pacific coast experiences in a biography recently pub-
lished by Robert C. Johnson (Portland, Oregon, 1935). The title
of the volume, John McLoughlin: Patriarch of the Northwest, re-
flects the emphasis that is placed upon the trader’s place in the history
of Oregon.

Hlinois Census Returns for 1810, 1818, and 1820, recently pub-
lished as volumes 24 and 26 of the Illinois Historical Collections, list
the settlers in Illinois as found in the 1818 territorial and the 1820
state census schedules. These volumes, which have been carefully
edited by Margaret Cross Norton with notes indicating all discrep-
ancies between the names as written in the two censuses, as well as in
the 1820 federal census, have an obvious value to the student of local
history ; they also might well contribute to general studies of settle-
ment and population movements in the United States. The extant
portion of the schedules for 1810 — presumably those for Randolph
County alone — and the schedules for 1818, which comprise the first
of the two volumes, are preceded by an introduction giving a history
of census taking in Illinois. In the schedules for 1818 and 1820
symbols preceding the names indicate whether or not they appear also
in the other censuses. Each name has been numbered, to facilitate
reference from the indexes, which add immeasurably to the usefulness
of the volumes. M. W.B.

Views of St. Paul, Red Wing, and Winona, reproduced from col-
ored lithographs appearing in Andreas’ 4tlas of 1874, are among six-
teen early prints of “ Midwestern American Cities,” copies of which
appear in the Bulletin of the Chicago Historical Society for March.
The reproductions accompany a brief note on two collections of prints
of midwestern interest — one in the possession of the society, and the
other owned by Mr. Charles B. Pike of Chicago. The pictures repro-
duced include two views of Chicago and one of Galena by Edwin
Whitefield, an artist who is well-known in Minnesota for his paint-
ings and drawings of local scenes of the fifties.

A volume of the Civil War Letters of Colonel Hans Christian
Heg, edited by Theodore C. Blegen, has recently been brought out by
the Norwegian-American Historical Association (Northfield, Minne-
sota, 1936. 260 p.). The book presents more than two hundred
hitherto unpublished letters written by Colonel Heg, the leader of the
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Fifteenth Wisconsin, the *‘ Scandinavian regiment " of the Northwest,
to his wife and children. The letters cover the period from January
16, 1862, to September 18, 1863, and carry the story of the regiment
from its organization at Madison to the day before the battle of
Chickamauga, in which Heg was killed. Island No. 10, Iuka, Per-
ryville, and Murfreesboro fizure largely in the narrative that the let-
ters comprise. In an introductory essay Mr. Blegen sketches the
career of Heg, which included a Norwegian boyhood, transatlantic
migration, frontier experiences in Wisconsin, an overland trek to the
gold fields of California, the ups and downs of a miner, a return to
the Middle West, an upward climb in Wisconsin local and state poli-
tics, and finally the organization and leadership of a regiment of im-
migrant soldiers. One of the companies in Colonel Heg’s regiment,
it may be noted, was made up to a considerable extent of Minnesota
men and was under the captaincy of Mons Grinager of Freeborn
County,

The March issue of the Palimpsest is devoted to articles about
Jowa in the two years from 1836 to 1838, when it, like the present
area of Minnesota, was a part of Wisconsin Territory. Attention is
called to the centennial of the creation of Wisconsin Teerritory in the
opening article, which is contributed by J. A. Swisher; Ruth A, Gal-
laher discusses ““ Government in Iowa” during these years of its at-
tachment to Wisconsin; and many phases of frontier life are touched
upon by William J. Petersen in an article entitled * The Times in
Review.”

“In February, 1785, nineteen . . . hardy adventurers, each of
whom had spent at least one winter in the pays d’en haut, formed
themselves into a dining club, to which they gave the name of the
industrious and persevering little animal who had been chiefly respon-
sible for their fortunes— the beaver.” Thus is described the origin
of the Beaver Club, an organization of fur traders at Montreal, which
is the subject of an interesting article by Clifford P. Wilson in the
Beaver for March. Of the original members, writes Mr. Wilson,
eight “were French speaking; three, all Frobishers, were English-
men; two, Alexander Henry and Peter Pond, were from the States;
and the other six were Scots.” Names famous in the early history
of Minnesota and the upper Northwest are mentioned in connection
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with this story of the Beaver Club, which continued to hold meetings,
marked by much feasting and drinking, until March, 1827, 1In the
same issue of the Beaver, Mr. Fulmer Mood reproduces two broad-
sides on which are listed the names of * Shareholders in the Hudson’s
Bay Company in 1673 and 1675.” The earlier broadside was found
in the British Museum by Mr., Mood, and the later one was discov-
ered in the Public Record Office by Grace Lee Nute of the Minnesota
Historical Society. Readers of this magazine will recall Mr. Mood’s
article on the “ London Background of the Radisson Problem,” pub-
lished in the issue for December, 1935,

“Of outstanding importance in connection with the interpretation
of our pre Confederation status” are the documents relating to the
Hudson’s Bay Company and Radisson and Groseilliers published by
Miss Nute in the December issues of the Beaver and MINNESOTA
History, according to J. T. Huggard, who discusses the legal aspects
of these contributions under the title “Ante Confederation Conven-
tions in Ruperts Land” in the March issue of the Manitoba Bar
News. Mention is made also of Fulmer Mood’s study of the “ Rad-
isson Problem ” in the Minnesota publication.

A massive Bibliography of Canadiana: Being Items in the Public
Library of Toronto, Canada, Relating to the Early History and De-
velopment of Canada has been issued under the editorship of Frances
M. Staton and Marie Tremaine by the Toronto Public Library
(1934. 828 p.). The 4,646 items listed, explains Miss Tremaine,
“were chosen from the Reference collection of the Library to form a
chronological record of the history of Canada from its discovery four
hundred years ago until the Confederation of the provinces in 1867,”
Books included have been *selected and arranged regardless of place
or date of publication to set forth the social, political and economic
activities in our country from year to year in the terms of the times.”
A large number of items of Minnesota and Northwest interest are

included in the list.

GENERAL MINNESoTA ITEMS

During the summer of 1935 the centennial of the founding of the
Lac qui Parle mission was appropriately celebrated by the Minnesota
Historical Society and the people of the state (see amte, 16:231),
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The event focused attention upon the story of the Protestant missions
in Minnesota. The year 1936 marks the one-hundredth anniver-
saries of several additional events connected with mission history. In
1836 a Sioux Spelling Book, the first book printed in the Dakota
language, was published ; schools for Indian and mixed-blood children
were opened by missionaries at Lake Harriet, in what is now the city
of Minneapolis; and two missionaries from Switzerland, David Gavin
and Samuel Dentan, arrived to minister to a band of Sioux living
near the present site of Winona. The centennial of the discovery of
the red pipestone quarries in southwestern Minnesota by George Cat-
lin, the well-known artist of Indian scenes and portraits, should be
celebrated during the summer of 1936. Lake Itasca, which was dis-
covered in 1832 by Henry R. Schoolcraft — an event that was marked
by a centennial celebration four years ago— will again be a center
of centennial interest during the coming summer. In 1836 Joseph N.
Nicollet, a French scientist and explorer, visited the headwaters of
the Mississippi, where he spent several days tracing the “infant”
stream to its ‘‘ utmost source ’’ and determining latitude and longitude.
The information that he gathered he later incorporated in a report to
the United States government and in a map which, according to Dr.
Folwell, “ determined all the subsequent cartography of an immense
region.” ‘The portion of Minnesota that is located east of the Mis-
sissippi River experienced a change in civil administration in 1836,
when Wisconsin Territory was organized. This section, which pre-
viously had been included in Michigan Territory, became part of
Crawford County, Wisconsin. It may be noted incidentally that
elaborate plans are being made in Wisconsin for celebrating the one-
hundredth anniversary of the establishment of Wisconsin Territory.
During 1936 will occur a bicentennial of Minnesota interest. In
1736, on an island in the Lake of the Woods, Indians murdered Jean
Baptiste la Vérendrye, Father Aulneau, and nineteen voyageurs.
They were members of a party of French trading explorers who had
been occupying Fort St. Charles, on what is now the Northwest
Angle of the lake, for about four years under the leadership of Jean
Baptiste’s father, the Sieur de la Vérendrye.

The Letters of Eliab Parker Mackintire of Boston, Written be-
tween 1845 & 1863, to Reverend William Salter of Burlington, Iowa,
which were originally published with an introduction and notes by
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Philip D. Jordan in the Bulletin of the New York Public Library
(see ante, 16: 111), have been issued as a separate (1936. 168 p.).
Among the letters for 1862 are three that Mackintire wrote to his
son-in-law, a Congregational missionary, during a summer visit to
Minnesota. They are dated at St. Paul, Little Falls, and Anoka,
and they include the writer’s impressions not only of these places, but
also of St. Cloud, Fort Ripley, and Crow Wing. The latter settle-
ment he declared was ““ as perfect a specimen of Indian barbarism as
one would wish to see.” Mackintire found St. Paul “ to be more of a
place than I had supposed,” and he predicted that “ Better buildings,
more business, and the location at the head of navigation must make
it a great town.” He was much interested by a ““large train of half-
breeds, with twenty to thirty-one ox carts . . . loaded with all sorts
of goods” that he observed on a road near St. Cloud “bound to the
Red River and Pembina.” “'The whole trade of this rich country
must find its outlet at St. Cloud,” he writes, “and that being just
below the Sauk rapids on the Mississippi and the head of navigation
above St. Anthony, is bound to be a great place.”

A wealth of material of Minnesota and Northwest interest is to
be found in volume 18 of the Dictionary of American Biography,
edited by Dumas Malone for the American Council of Learned So-
cieties (New York, 1936). Sketches of two prominent explorers of
the upper Northwest, Henry de Tonty of the French period and
David Thompson of the British and American periods, are contrib-
uted by Louise Phelps Kellogg and T. C. Elliott. The career of
Lawrence Taliaferro, Indian agent at Fort Snelling for twenty years
after its establishment, is reviewed by Grace Lee Nute. Jane Grey
Swisshelm, the well-known feminist and abolitionist, a volume of
whose letters was published by the Minnesota Historical Society
in 1934, is the subject of a sketch by Bertha-Monica Stearns. John
O. Evjen contributes biographies of several outstanding figures in
Norwegian-American life whose careers were at some point identified
with Minnesota — Peer O. Stromme, journalist and author; Hans G.
Stub, clergyman in Minneapolis and teacher at Robbinsdale; Georg
Sverdrup, president of Augsburg Seminary at Minneapolis; and Erik
H. Tou, missionary. President Zachary Taylor’s early military
service at Fort Snelling is mentioned in the detailed review of his
career by Wendell H. Stephenson. An account of another military
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leader, Alfred H. Terry, who was in command of the Department of
Dakota, with headquarters at St. Paul and Fort Snelling, during
much of the period from 1866 to 1886, is contributed by Rabert
Bruce. The notable service of James Wickes Taylor as American
consul at Winnipeg from 1870 to 1893 is given recognition by Fran-
cis P. Weisenburger. Ernest L. Bogart is the author of a sketch of
one of the leading figures in the railroad history of Minnesota,
Alpheus B. Stickney of St. Paul; and E. Wilder Spaulding reviews
the career of Charlemagne Tower, who helped to develop the iron
resources of the Vermilion Range. Lester B. Shippee contributes
biographies of two political leaders who represented Minnesota in
Congress — Charles A. Towne of Duluth and James A. Tawney of
Winona. Contributions to the history of education in Minnesota are
to be found in C. A. Duniway’s sketch of James W. Strong, presi-
dent of Carleton College from 1870 to 1903, and in C. A. Browne’s
account of Roscoe W. Thatcher, a leader in agricultural education in
the University of Minnesota from 1913 to 1921. Henry D. Tho-
reau’s health-seeking journey to Minnesota, which formed the subject
of an interesting article by John T. Flanagan in the March, 1935,
issue of MINNEsora HisTory, is briefly noted in a biography by
Raymond W. Adams and Henry Seidel Canby; and mention is made
of services on Minnesota newspapers of Mortimer N. Thompson and
Burt L. Taylor in reviews of their careers by Franklin J. Meine and

Franklin P. Adams.

The glacial geology of a large portion of Minnesota is the subject
of a study by William S. Cooper which has been published by the Uni-
versity of Minnesota Press under the title The History of the Upper
Mississippi River in the Late Wisconsin and Postglacial Time (1935.
116 p.). ‘The book is number 26 of the Bulletins of the Minnesota
Geological Survey.

“It was not until the University’s twenty-second year, in 1891,
that, February 28, twelve girls founded the first women’s society, the
University Y. W.C. A.,”” according to an account of *“ Women’s Or-
ganizations at Minnesota” which appears in the Minnesota Alumni
Weekly for January 4. Most of the article is concerned with the
work of this pioneer organization and with the story of the building
of Shevlin Hall on the campus of the University of Minnesota.
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‘The issue for 1936 of the Red River Aggie, the annual publica-
tion of the senior class of the Northwest School of Agriculture at
Crookston, is a historical number commemorating the * fortieth anni-
versary of the establishment of the Northwest Experiment Station
and the thirtieth anniversary of the opening of the school.” A gen-
eral “ History of the Northwest School” is contributed by A. A.
Dowell, the superintendent; T. M. McCall, R. S. Dunham, R. ]J.
Christgau, and A. M. Pilkey supply reviews of the progress of horti-
culture, agronomy, animal husbandry, and poultry raising in the Red
River Valley during forty years; and H. A. Phlughoeft is the author
of an account of “4-H Club Work in Northwestern Minnesota.”

‘The issue of the Companion, a publication of the Minnesota School
for the Deaf at Faribault, for March 19 is a “ Sixtieth Anniversary
Number " issued in commemoration of its continuous publication since
it was established as the Gopher in 1876. In a “ Biographical Sketch
of The Companion,” J. L. Smith reveals that its story is closely iden-
tified with that of the teaching of printing and typesetting in the
Faribault school. The writer relates that the paper began publica-
tion under the direction of George Wing, a teacher who in 1875 “ pur-
chased a small, second-hand job press and a limited quantity of back
number type.” A facsimile of the sheet produced with this equipment
appears on the cover of the Companion. Another feature of the issue
is a list of the “ Personnel of the Minnesota School for the Deaf,
1863-1936,” with the names of teachers and students,

Brief historical sketches of Goodwill Industries at Duluth, Minne-
apolis, and St. Paul appear in a recent volume entitled The Goodwill
Industries: A Manual (Boston, 1935, 217 p.). According to a his-
torical review of the movement included in the work, it was organized
in 1905, and the Minnesota branches were established between 1918
and 1924.

The fact that “ Minnesota was one of the pioneers in establishing
state-owned natural areas for recreational use by the general pub-
lic” is revealed by Harold W. Lathrop in an article on * Minnesota
State Parks” which appears in the Minnesota Conservationist for
February. It includes a survey of state park administration and
notes on a few individual parks. A map on which state parks are
located accompanies the article. Sketches of additional parks and
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monuments, most of which commemorate events or mark sites con-
nected with the Sioux Qutbreak of 1862, appear in the March issue
of the Conservationist.

A contribution to the history of sports in Minnesota is a pamphlet
entitled The Golden Gophers, in which records of all University of
Minnesota “ football teams from the beginning of football on the
campus through the 1935 season” are presented (63 p.). The
pamphlet was compiled under the editorship of William S. Gibson
and was published by the General Alumni Association of the uni-
versity. More than half of the space in the booklet is given to the
“undefeated football teams of 1933, 1934 and 1935.”

That Minnesota’s possibilities as a playground were appreciated
by some easterners seventy years ago is pointed out in an article in the
St. Paul Pioneer Press for March 1, which quotes extensively from
letters written by Charles C. Coffin in 1869 for publication in the
Boston Journal. Photostatic copies of these letters have been acquired
recently by the Detroit Lakes Civic and Commerce Association.

The *“ History of Skiing” at Red Wing and in the Northwest is
briefly outlined in the Red Wing Daily Eagle for January 30. The
organization of the Aurora Club by skiing experts at Red Wing in
January, 1886; of similar clubs at Ishpeming, Michigan, Ashland,
Wisconsin, St. Paul, Hibbing, Duluth, and Minneapolis during the
next two decades; and of a national ski association in 1904 are noted.
Some interesting comments on early tournaments and on the manu-
facturing of skiis are included. The occasion for the publication of
the article was the holding of a national ski tournament at Red Wing
on February 1 and 2. Interest in the same event led to the inclusion
of several articles on skiing history in the Red #Wing Daily Republican
for January 29. According to one of these accounts, the origin of the
sport at Red Wing may be traced to the settlement there in 1883 of
a “quartet of Norwegian skiers — Mickel and Torjus Hemmestevdt,
Paul Honningstad and Dr. Bengdt Hjermstad.” Other early experts
whose exploits are described are R. L. Grondahl, Dr. A. E. Johnson,
and Even O. Fladvad. A number of interesting pictures of early ski
clubs appear in this issue.

The influence of the local scene upon “Artists from Minnesota”
is emphasized by Erle Loran in an interesting article which appears
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in the American Magazine of Art for January. He describes the
work of Adolf Dehn, Arnold and Lucile Blanch, Wanda Gag, and
others who have found success away from their native haunts; and
he tells of another group, including Dewey Albinson and Cameron
Booth — artists who have remained at home to produce pictures that
Mr. Loran aptly describes as “regional documents.” The work of
the two latter artists in depicting Indian life at Grand Portage and
at Leech Lake is given special attention.

About two hundred and fifty people attended the annual meeting
of the Catholic Historical Society of St. Paul, which was held in the
Historical Building, St. Paul, on January 12. Among the papers
presented were an account of the father and son, Jean Baptiste and
Alexander Faribault, who founded the Minnesota community that
bears their name, by Julius A. Coller 1T of Shakopee; a review of the
career of Bishop John Shanley by Sister Helen Angela of Washing-
ton; and a history of a Catholic newspaper formerly published at St.
Paul, the Northwestern Chronicle, by Mrs. H. J. O'Brien of St. Paul.
Under the title “ The Faribaults in Minnesota,”” Mr. Coller’s paper
appears in full in the Shakopee Argus-Tribune for January 23.

A brief survey of early Congregational churches in Minnesota is
included in a pamphlet on the American Missionary Association and
the Churches of the Midwest before 1861 by George L. Cady (11p.).
The material here presented, which is drawn from the annual reports
and yearbooks of the association, deals for the most part with the
Plymouth Congregational Church of Minneapolis, which was estab-
lished in 1858.

A History of 8t. Wendelin’s Parish of Luxemburg, Minnesota, by
the Reverend Frederick Wiechmann was issued on the occasion of the
seventy-fifth anniversary of the church in August, 1935 (42p.). The
fiftieth anniversary in July, 1935, of Qur Saviour’s Lutheran Church
of Warren was commemorated by the publication of a pamphlet con-
taining the anniversary program and a brief history of the church
(24 p.). Accounts of the founding of churches that celebrated anni-
versaries during the first three months of the year appeared in the
local newspapers. The First Presbyterian Church of Anoka, which
celebrated its eightieth anniversary on January 26 and 27, was founded
by Charles S. Le Duc, a clergyman prominent in the history of both
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the town and the state. The eightieth anniversary of the Methodist
Episcopal Church of Princeton was marked from March 20 to 23 by
the presentation of a pageant depicting the history of the church,
beginning with the work of Alfred Brunson, early missionary in the
upper Mississippi Valley. An eightieth anniversary was also com-
memorated by the First Baptist Church of Anoka from April 1 to 3;a
seventy-fifth anniversary by the First Presbyterian Church of Roches-
ter on February 28; a sixty-fifth anniversary by the Pilgrim Congre-
gational Church of Duluth on January 15; and a sixtieth anniversary
by the Hennepin Avenue Methodist Episcopal Church from March
31 to April 2. S.P. L.

A table giving the “ Mean annual precipitation ” in inches at many
points in Minnesota during periods ranging from less than twenty
years to nearly a century is included in a volume of Studies of Rela-
tions of Rainfall and Run-off in the United States by W. G. Hoyt
and others, which has been published by the United States Geological
Survey as Water Supply Paper 772 (p. 68). In Paper 771 of the
same series, Clarence S. Jarvis and others discuss Floods in the United
States. Of Minnesota interest are statistics relating to flood condi-
tions on the Red Lake River at Crookston {p. 234), the Mississippi
at Elk River (p. 236), and the Minnesota at Montevideo and Man-
kato (p. 243-246).

A Brief History of the National Society of the Colonial Dames
of America in the State of Minnesota, 1896—1935 has been compiled
by Frances W. Janney and Mrs. Charles S. Pillsbury and issued by
the society (28 p.). Among the activities of the society described
are the erection of tablets commemorating the Minnesota achievements
of two explorers, Lieutenant Zebulon M. Pike and Henry R. School-
craft, and of the pioneer governor, Alexander Ramsey, and the presen-
tation of books to the Minnesota Historical Society. In the account
of the erection of the Schoolcraft marker at Lake Itasca the date of
the discovery of the source of the Mississippi is erroneously given as
1825, though an accompanying illustration reveals that the marker
itself bears the correct date, 1832.

Biographical sketches of the children of Joseph and Margaret
Earhart, which appear in a genealogical work on the Earhart, Boyd
and Allied Families compiled by Lida B. Earhart, reveal that several
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members of this family settled in Minnesota (New York, 1935.
260 p.). Duluth, St. Cloud, and Minneapolis are the places at which
they have resided.

LocaL HistoriCAL SOCIETIES

To the inventories of local historical records preserved by the his-
torical societies of Rice, St. Louis, Blue Earth, and Pipestone counties,
published in earlier issues of this magazine (see ante, 16:241, 359,
489, 17:119), may be added the following list of manuscripts pre-
served by the Cottonwood County Historical Society:

Reminiscent articles by E. E, Gillam; obituaries and sketches of old
settlers and business men; a history of Storden Township by A. H. An-
derson; minutes of the first meeting, on December 3, 1882, of the congre-
gation of the Windom Lutheran Church; a book containing records of
the road overseer and of land taxes for 1881 in Springfield Township;
and the records of the Cottonwood County Old Settlers Association for
the years from 1901 to 1920.

A recent addition to the list of county historical societies is that
in Chippewa County, which was organized at Montevideo on Febru-
ary 12. At a meeting held on that date the following officers were
elected: the Reverend T. H. Hazard, president; Mrs. A. N. Kohr,
vice president; Mrs. L. N. Pierce, corresponding secretary; Magnus
Johnson, recording secretary ; and Mrs. M. E. Chamberlin, treasurer.
Plans for the establishment of a historical museum in Chippewa County
were made by officers of the society at a meeting held on March 27.

Miss Ella Hawkinson was named president of the Clay County
Historical Society at its annual meeting, which was held at Moorhead
on March 14. Other officers elected include Carl A. Johnson, vice
president; Mrs. S. E. Rice, secretary; and H. C. Nordlie, treasurer.
Plans for the establishment of a historical museum were made at the
meeting. The museum will be housed in one of the buildings of the
Moorhead State Teachers College, according to an announcement in

the Moorhead Daily News for March 28.

The Reverend T. J. Buckton of Osakis spoke on the Indian back-
grounds of Douglas County at a well-attended meeting of the Douglas
County Historical Society held at Alexandria on January 15. Col-
lections of Indian objects assembled by Mr. R. S. Thornton, Mr. E.
A. Christenson, and Mrs. R. Morse were displayed. At a meeting
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of the society held on March 18, Willoughby M. Babcock, curator of
the museum of the Minnesota Historical Society, presented an illus-
trated review of the history of the state.

Plans for the establishment at Rochester of an Olmsted County
historical museum are announced in the Rochester Post-Bulletin for
March 30. The county historical society will ca-operate with local
women’s clubs in collecting material for the museum, which will be
located in the basement of the Rochester library.

One of the most active of the local historical societies in the state
is that in Pope County, which is sponsoring a WPA project involving
five workers. They are examining records in the courthouse at Glen-
wood and assembling material on the history of the county by means
of questionnaires (see ante, p. 122). Some of the bits of information
unearthed by these workers appear from time to time in the Glenwood
Herald, for example, in the issue for February 13. In order to offer
suggestions for the work of the Pope County society, Dr, Grace Lee
Nute, curator of manuscripts for the state historical society, visited
Glenwood on March 5. At that time she gave a public address,
discussing the activities of the state society and the value of the records
preserved by that organization and by local societies. The Pope
County society and the history of the region were discussed by the
president of the organization, the Reverend M. C. Johnshoy of Star-
buck, before the Glenwood Parent-Teacher Association on March 16.

The tenth anniversary of the founding of the Rice County His-
torical Society was commemorated at a meeting held at Faribault on
March 9. An appropriate feature of the program was the presenta-
tion of a paper entitled “ A Ten Year Review of the Activities of the
Rice County Historical Society” by Mrs. H. C. Theopold, curator
of the society’s museum. A paper on “Dr. James Lloyd Breck and
the Founding of the Episcopal Church Schools in Faribault” was
read by Dr. F. F. Kramer. Both papers are published in full in the
Faribault Daily News for March 10. At a business session held in
connection with the meeting, Mr. Theodore Estabrook of Faribault
was elected secretary to succeed Mr. Herbert L. Buck, and Mr. Carl
Weicht of Northfield was named a director of the society. An im-
pressive list of gifts received by the society in 1935, including museum
objects, pictures, manuscripts, and books, appears in the News for
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March 11. The completion of a decade of activity by the society is
the occasion for some interesting editorial comment in the Northfield
News for March 13. ‘“ The happiest circumstances of such a society,’”
reads the editorial, * are more or less intangible dividends which accrue
from the investment of time and energy in the direction of local his-
torical research. The collection of museum articles, the actual pre-
paration of interesting chapters in the county’s history, and the coming
together of representative citizens with a common interest in mind are
all important, to be sure. But, in a larger sense, a great purpose is
also met by such activity in the rich background which it gives for a
more thoughtful citizenship on the part of men and women who are
the successors and the heirs of those who have made their contribution
to the life of the community.”

The Duluth Free Press is publishing in installments papers read
at recent meetings of the North Shore Historical Assembly and the St.
Louis County Historical Society (see ante, p. 123). A review of
“Portages and Old Trails in and Adjacent to Jay Cooke State Park ™
by John Fritzen appears in issues published between January 10 and
February 21; the first installment of R. E. Carey’s history of the
“Vermilion Road and Indian Trail from Minnesota Point to Ver-
milion Lake” appears on February 28.

The Stearns County Historical Society, which held its first meeting
in November (see ante, p. 123), was organized on a permanent basis
at a meeting held in St. Cloud on March 27. The following officers
were elected: D. S. Brainard, president ; the Reverend Walter Reger,
vice president; Miss Gertrude Gove, secretary; and Alvah Eastman,
treasurer.

The activities of pioneer women, with special reference to Wash-
ington County, were described in talks by Dr. Grace Lee Nute, curator
of manuscripts for the Minnesota Historical Society, and Mrs. Robert
Harrigan of Stillwater before a meeting of the Washington County
Historical Society at Stillwater on January 29.

Plans for the establishment of a local historical museum are under
way at Canby, where an old store building that was erected on the
original townsite has been offered to the city for historical purposes.
The idea for such a museum was suggested in a letter from the Rever-
end C. Haugen, which was published in the Canbdy News for January
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31. The removal of the building to the city park, and the assembling
there of heirlooms and objects illustrative of the early history of the
community is being considered. In the News for February 14 the
announcement is made that ““in the very near future a local historical
society will be formed for the express purpose of furthering the in-
terests of a memorial museum.” Such a society for Yellow Medicine
County was planned at a meeting held on March 13, and a committee,
of which Mrs. A. D. Allen is chairman, was named to study the
problem of organization.

Locar History ITEMS

The history of Anoka during the past twenty-five years was the
subject of a paper presented by Mrs. S. H. DeLong at a meeting of
the Philolectian Society on January 29. The narrative is published
in the 4dnoka Union for February 5.

An agricultural paper issued in 1878 as the “ official organ of the
LeRoy [Le Ray] Library Association, a group formed in the town-
ship in the interest of agriculture,” is described in the Marshall Daily
Messenger for February 7. “One of the projects advocated in the
first issue was the cooperative purchase of scientific books on farming
for use among the members.” A copy of this early Blue Earth
County paper, which is written by hand, was discovered by Mr. Mur-
ray Smart among the materials left by his father-in-law, the late
Captain Ira B. Reynold of Crystal Lake,

Most of a “Brief History of Blue Earth County” which appears
in the Blue Earth County Enterprise of Mapleton for February 7 is
devoted to the period between 1852 and 1860. The sketch was pre-
pared by Mrs. Thomas Hamp for presentation before the local Wom-
en’s Study Club.

An abandoned Catholic cemetery at Mankato is described in the
Mankato Free Press for February 2 by Frank Franciscus, who quotes
inscriptions on some of the stones and markers and traces the stories
of some of the individuals who are buried there. The story of the
Hotel Heinrich and of the Himmelman family, which operated it
until recently, is related in the Free Press for March 9. The floods
of 1881 and 1908, as recalled by some of the older residents of Man-
kato, are described in the issue for March 24.
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In the admirable series of sketches of ““ Brown County History "
which Mr. Fred W. Johnson has been publishing in the Brown
County Journal of New Ulm have been included recently an account
of the “ Notorious Jaques Family ” of horse thieves which was operat-
ing in Brown County in 1857, January 3; descriptions of some
“Blizzards of Early Days,” particularly those of 1866, 1873, 1881,
1909, and 1917, February 28 and March 6; a report on “ Chief
‘Sleepy Eyes’ and His Monument,” March 13 and 27; and the first
installments of a review of the Inkpaduta Indian massacre of 1857,

March 20 and 27.

“Ten or twelve children, mostly Indians, responded to roll call ”
in the first school at Moose Lake, which “ was held in the waiting
room of the railroad depot” in 1872, according to a historical sketch
of the local schools in the Star Gazette of Moose Lake for March 19.
The names of pupils who attended classes in a rough board building
that was used as a schoolhouse in 1875 are recalled by a pioneer, Louis
Skog. Buildings erected in 1882, 1912, and 1919 are described.

The early rivalry of Montevideo and Chippewa City and the
efforts of the two communities to obtain the county seat of Chippewa
County and the post office for the vicinity in 1870 are described by
J. J. Stennes in the Montevideo News for January 10. Among the
pioneer politicians who figure in the narrative are George W. Frink,
Cornelius J. Nelson, V. J. Mathews, Eli Pettijohn, and Edward
Alcorn.

That the post office at Ulen was originally known as Oneland is
revealed by Eliza Evenson in ‘“An Historical Retrospect” of the
Clay County village which appears in the Ulen Unior for February
20. The incorporation of the village and the establishment of the
Union in 1896 are described in the article, which is accompanied by
photographic views of the main street in 1893 and 1910.

A little log church built near Bagley in 1896 and said to be the
“first church” in Clearwater County is the subject of a brief article
in the Farmers Independent of Bagley for March 19. The members
of the Evangelical Lutheran congregation who worshipped in this
primitive structure are named in the article, which is accompanied by
a picture of the church.



236 NEWS AND COMMENT June

The founding of the railroad village of Hayfield in 1885, the
arrival of the first train, the opening of stores and other business proj-
ects in the new community, the establishment of churches and schools,
and the building of a co-operative creamery are described by George
Gilbertson in a “ Historical Sketch of Hayfield Village” which ap-
pears in installments in the Hayfield Herald from January 9 to Febru-
ary 13.

Some events in the early history of Herman, as recalled by a pioneer
of 1878, Mr. M. B. Sheppard, are recorded by C. H. Phinney in the
Grant County Herald of Elbow Lake for January 23. Some pioneer
merchants are named, early residences and business houses are located,
and the first school is described.

The centennial of the founding of the Lake Harriet mission school
in the present city of Minneapolis is commemorated in an account of
its history in the Minneapolis Journal for January 5. The activities
of the Pond brothers and of Jedediah Stevens as missionaries to the
Sioux who lived on the site of Minneapolis are described. A facsimile
of the rules of the school, from the original in the possession of the
Minnesota Historical Society, is reproduced with the article.

The Story of Minneapolis Rotary, 1910-1935 is the title of a little
volume published by the Rotary Club of Minneapolis to mark its
twenty-fifth anniversary (1935. 121 p.). The story of the founding
of the club, which was the eighth of its kind in the United States, is
followed by a year-by-year record of its achievements. Lists of mem-
bers, past and present, appear at the end of the volume.

A club composed of the mothers of children who attended the
Grand Rapids kindergarten in 1908 was the nucleus of a parent-
teacher association organized at Grand Rapids in 1913, Mrs. Daniel
Costello revealed in reviewing the history of the latter organization
at a meeting held early in March. An outline of her talk appears in
the Itasca County Independent for March 13.

Life at Willmar in the eighties is described by the late Lewis John-
son, a local pioneer, in an autobiography published under the title
“One Man’s Journey ” in the Willmar Daily Tribune from February
6 to 21. Much attention is given to the story of the organization of
a Swedish Lutheran congregation at Willmar, a development in which
the writer took an active part.
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During the late winter and early spring the Marshall Daily
Messenger conducted an “ Old-Timer Reunion,” in which early resi-
dents presented their recollections of pioneer days in letters sent to
the newspaper for publication. Various types of frontier experiences
are described in the letters, the first of which appear in the Mes-
senger for March 2. It is interesting to note that responses were
received from twenty-four states in all sections of the country. A
similar group of letters by former residents of Nobles County is pub-
lished in the Worthington Globe for January 30. Many sidelights
on pioneer life may be gleaned from these letters, and the newspapers
represented are to be commended for encouraging the writing of such
communications.

The history of the Bohemian Reading and Educational Society,
organized by the Bohemian settlers of McLeod County in 1876, is
reviewed in commemoration of the sixtieth anniversary of the organi-
zation in the Silver Lake Leader for January 11. ““Since its
organization the Society has met once a month for sixty years and for
more than fifty years, its meetings have been held at Bohemian Hall,”
reads an account in the Leader. A picture of this hall and an account
of its construction and use by Bohemian organizations also appear in
the issue.

“The First Fifty Years of Hassan Valley Lodge No. 109,” Inde-
pendent Order of Odd Fellows, established at Hutchinson in 1886,
are reviewed in an article by Clarence Johnson, S. S. Beach, and
Alfred Mills in the Hutchinson Leader for February 7. The charter
members and early officers of the lodge are named and its philan-
thropic work during half a century is described.

Some of the experiences of Dr. H. P. Johnson, who has been prac-
ticing medicine at Fairmont since 1899, are set forth in an article
which appears with his portrait in the Fairmont Daily Sentinel for
February 25. He is described as the last of three pioneer physicians
who served the people of Fairmont. The others are Dr. W. J.
Richardson and Dr. F. N. Hunt.

The sixtieth anniversary of the incorporation of Austin as a city
is commemorated in the dustin Daily Herald for February 28, which
includes a detailed review of the early history of the community. An
interesting picture of the main street of Austin in 1866 accompanies
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the article. In the Herald for March 2 is an account of the begin-
ning of mail service at Austin in 1898 with a picture of the four men
in uniform who served as the city’s first mail carriers.

In an interesting reminiscent letter published in the Murray County
Herald of Slayton for March 19, Mr. Burt I. Weld recalls that his
father paid ““one-half barrel of cane syrup or molasses ” for a course
of twenty-four organ lessons given to the writer and his sister by a
talented neighbor in the eighties. The syrup was made at a neigh-
borhood sorghum mill, and Mr. Weld tells of the process employed
in its manufacture.

Information about eight “‘ghost’ cities” in Nicollet County,

located by Mr. Oscar Schmiedel in connection with a WPA project,
is presented in the 8t¢. Peter Herald for February 7. Records of
these boom towns of the fifties which failed to develop have been
found in plat books among the archives of the county register of deeds.
Plats have been discovered for Swan City, Eureka, Dakota City,
Woashington, Red Stone City, Union City, “ McQueston’s addition
to Le Hillier City,” and Waheoka.

Recollections of log drives in the vicinity of Fergus Falls and on
the Red River are supplied in an interview with Mr. E. H. Pelton
of St. Cloud, which appears in the Fergus Falls Daily Journal for
March 20. At one time “ Mr. Pelton and his four brothers had a
contract . . . to cut and drive ten million feet of pine to Winnipeg. . ..
The price paid was $5 per thousand feet for cutting and putting the
logs into the river and $3.50 for driving them to Winnipeg. The
long drive occupied about 100 days,” Mr. Pelton recalls. Other
items of historical interest in recent issues of the Journal include an
account, by R. A. Darling, of his experiences with Fred Russel in
1872, when they sold lightning rods in western Minnesota, in the
issue for January 20; and a sketch of the early schools of Fergus Falls,
published in the number for February 28.

The suggestion that one of the original log houses still standing in
Tumuli Township, Otter Tail County, be restored and maintained as
a museum in “lasting memory”’ of the pioneer settlers of the com-
munity is made by Mr. E. L. Kvernstoen in a letter published in the
Fergus Falls Daily Journal for March 7. Several old buildings that
might serve such a purpose are noted by Mr. Swend Larson in the
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Journal for March 19. This correspondent suggests further that
something should be done toward the preservation of a neglected pio-
neer cemetery in the township.

The twenty-fifth anniversary of the Askov Creamery Association
was celebrated by members and their friends at a meeting held on
February 4. The history of the organization was reviewed in a
play, written by the Reverend J. Knudsen and based on the early
minutes of the association. The anniversary was marked also by
the publication of a pamphlet entitled 4 Brief Historical Outline of
the Askov Community (16 p.). Information for this booklet was
compiled by Mr. Ludvig Mosboek, one of the early settlers in the
community. The beginning of Danish settlement in 1906 at Part-
ridge under the auspices of the Danish Folk Society is described in
detail, for out of this movement grew the co-operative community
that in 1908 took the name of Askov. Mr. Mosboek tells of the
organization by the Danish settlers in 1907 of a Landboforening or
farmers’ union, and he quotes extensively from its minutes, which, in
the early years, were recorded in Danish. The Askov Co-Operative
Association, which developed from the union in 1513, has sponsored
many co-operative projects in addition to the creamery, including the
sale of feed, flour, coal, and produce.

The record of a pioneer superintendent of schools who *‘made 84
visits to schools, traveling 1223 miles on horseback, 276 miles with
team and on foot 117 miles” is contained in a letter published in the
Glenwood Herald for March 5. It was written on January 5, 1879,
by the head of the Pope County schools, Henry G. Rising, to the
board of county commissioners. The writer relates that during his
term of office eleven new schoolhouses had been built in the county.

The fiftieth anniversary of the founding of Macalester College in
St. Paul was commemorated by a two-day celebration on March 8
and 9. The Twin City newspapers contained accounts of the cele-
bration and of the historical backgrounds of the college, which was
founded by the Reverend Edward D. Neill, early Minnesota clergy-
man and educator.

“The part that the Community Chest has played in the welfare
program of St. Paul” is surveyed in a pamphlet entitled 4fter Fif-
teen Years, issued by this money-raising organization in May, 1935
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(40 p.). ‘That the “ Chest movement in its nation wide manifestation
is largely a post-war development ” is brought out in connection with
the discussion of the organization of the St. Paul chest in 1920.
Future writers on the history of social welfare work in Minnesota
will find in this pamphlet valuable lists of welfare agencies supported
by the chest.

The issue of the Morton Enterprise for February 27 is a *“ Golden
Anniversary Edition,” commemorating the passing of fifty years since
the paper was established by O. E. Hogue. Among the articles of
special interest for local history in the issue are a brief review of the
history of the Enterprise, a history of the Morton schools prepared
by a group of students and teachers, an account of the local woman’s
club from its organization in 1920, a short sketch of the story of
Morton by G. M. Kumro, and some information about Sherman
Township by O. W. Newton. Early Lutheran, Catholic, and Meth-
odist church organizations in the county are described, and an account
of an Episcopal mission established in 1860 is contributed by the
Reverend J. G. Larsen.

The Northfield Lyceum, organized in 1856, was the subject of a
radio talk presented over station WCAL at Northfield by Carl L.
Weicht on March 11. The text of the talk appears in the Northfield
News for March 13. It contains a wealth of information about this
pioneer cultural organization, which had for its purpose the establish-
ment of a “reading room, circulating library, and debating society.”
‘Within a year the lyceum had erected its own building, a one-story
structure which is pictured in the News. Many of the early pro-
grams and meetings are described by Mr. Weicht, who bases his
narrative largely upon the manuscript minutes of the lyceum. The
volume, which was found among the papers of the late Owen Meade,
is now in the possession of Mrs. Charles A. Bierman of Northfield.

The lumbering and mining activities that led to the founding of
Eveleth are recalled in a “ Condensed History of the City ” compiled
by Mrs. G. A. Perham for presentation at a meeting of the Eveleth
Woman's Club on February 17 and published in installments in the
Eveleth News from March 5 to 26.  Early elections and the establish-
ment of schools and churches are among other subjects touched upon.
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Living conditions at Eveleth in the early nineties are recalled by Dr.
C. W. More, who located there in 1894 ““as physician for the mine
and railroad employees,” in a reminiscent article published in the
January issue of Minnesota Medicine.

The story of a road that originally connected communities on the
south bank of the Minnesota River with the Chaska ferry is reviewed
in the Weekly Valley Herald of Chaska for January 23. Although
the road is in Scott County, until recently it-was maintained by the
municipality of Chaska. In 1896 the ferry was replaced by a bridge.

A historical review of the Centennial Society of Elk River, pre-
sented at a recent meeting of the club by Mis. C. M. Babcock, appears
in installments in the Sherburne County Star News of Elk River |
from February 6 to 20. ‘This interesting contribution to the social
history of the community is based upon the minutes of the club, which
date from January 18, 1876.

The passing of the “ three-quarter century mark ” by the Qwatonna
Journal-Chronicle is the occasion for the publication of a review of
its history in the “ Tabloid >’ section accompanying the issue for Jan-
uvary 10. Early editors of the Journal, the pioneer news sheet of -
Steele County, the establishment of the Chronicle by E. K. Whiting
and Herbert F. Luers in 1897, and the consolidation of the two papers
in 1905 are among the subjects discussed.

The Staples Commercial Club has appointed a committee, with
Mr. B. C. Barrett as chairman, to interview old settlers and collect
letters, newspapers, pictures, and other items relating to the history
of the community., The club has in view the compilation of a his-
tory of Staples to be published in commemoration of its golden anni-
versary in 1940,

The drug store of Thomas Gibbs and Son; which has been catering
to the people of Lake City since 1860, is the subject of an interesting
communication in the W abasha County Leader for March 12. The
anonymous writer tells of the English ¢ Chemist & Druggist,” Thomas
Gibbs, who founded the firm, and who brought to the frontier com-
munity and “placed upon his shelves, a complete stock of all the
known and used medical drugs” of the period; and he relates that a
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similar stock still is to be found on the same shelves “in the long

rows and tiers of those glass containers typical of that early era.”
The stock of toys that appeared at Gibbs each year for the Christmas
trade also receives some attention.

The founding of the Winona Y.M. C.A. in March, 1886, is
described in an article in the W inona Republican-Herald for March
21, which calls attention to the fiftieth anniversary of the organiza-
tion. Steps leading to the organization, its incorporation in 1894,
buildings that it has occupied, individuals and committees that have
directed its activities, and other matters relating to its history are set
forth in this article.

In the “ Foreword” of a Condensed History of Wright County,
1851-1935 (Delano, Minnesota, 1935. 228 p.), the compilers, C.
A. French and Frank B. Lamson, declare that it has been their inten-
tion not “to give in detail the events which have occurred since its
[zhe county’s] organization, but rather to cover the high lights of its
tragical stories and other episodes which have played an important
part in the lives of its people.” The result is a series of short narra-
tives, each under a separate heading, thrown together in haphazard
fashion. The opening section, which bears the general heading
“ Location and Early History,” includes brief accounts of such un-
related subjects as “ First Officers” of the county, the “ Wright
County War,” the “ Cost of Court House,” “ Summer Resorts,” and
the individual townships and villages located in the county. It is
followed by sections devoted to “ Cosmopolitan Population,” “ Wright
County Newspapers” and editors, incidents in the political history
of the region, “ Patriotic Service” of residents of the county in the
Civil, Spanish-American, and World wars, ¢ Tragedies,” *“ Industries,”
“Churches, Schools and Philanthropy,” and ‘‘ Fraternities,”” By a
quirk of arrangement the killing of muskrats is classed as a “ Patriotic
Service,” and a page of “ Wise Cracks”’ concludes the section desig-
nated as “Tragedies.” ‘The last seventy-five pages of the book are
devoted to brief biographical sketches of pioneers. The book is not
history, but historical and biographical miscellany.,
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